IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BELEVIA POTTS

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-00092

LARRY BLACK AND MISSISSIPPI DEPT. OF TRANSPORTATION

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF ATTALA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

OF COUNSEL:

YANCY B. BURNS (MSK The Crawley Law Offices, PLLC 1855 Lakeland Drive, Ste R-205 P. O. Box 13849 Jackson, MS 39236-3849 Telephone: 601-956-5373 Facsimile: 601-956-5360

Dated: May 27, 2008

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BELEVIA POTTS

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-00092

LARRY BLACK AND MISSISSIPPI DEPT. OF TRANSPORTATION

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues for decision before the Court are:

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in finding that Potts' proof of damages concerning future medical care and expenses was insufficient as a matter of law
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in finding that Potts' proof of damages concerning loss of wage earning capacity was insufficient as a matter of law
- 3. Whether the court's assessment of Potts' non-pecuniary damages was unreasonable
- 4. Whether the trial court's denial of Potts' request for continuance was "manifestly unjust and prejudicial"

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Appellant, Belevia Potts, filed a civil action seeking compensatory damages for bodily injuries against the Mississippi Department of Transportation ("MDOT") and its employee pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. The complaint alleged that MDOT created a hazardous condition by slinging rocks into the vehicle occupied by Potts which further caused serious bodily injury and other damages.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition of the Case Below

Five days before this bench trial was scheduled to commence, Appellant requested a continuance on the grounds of recently obtained medical evidence that was material to her claim for loss of wage earning capacity. The medical evidence suggested that Potts was an imminent candidate for a total knee replacement that was causally connected to the subject occurrence. The circuit judge denied the requested relief on the grounds that the case had been pending for in excess of 270 days and should proceed to trial as scheduled.

On the day of trial, the parties stipulated that MDOT's negligence proximately caused the occurrence in question. The sole issue before the circuit judge was whether Potts' claimed damages were proximately caused by the negligent conduct of MDOT. Potts damages included

permanent injury to her right knee resulting in reconstructive surgery and related medical expenses in the amount of \$28,502.00; future medical expenses associated with an anticipated total knee replacement procedure; past, present and future pain and suffering; permanent impairment and disability caused by the injury; and loss of wage earning capacity.

The lower court specifically found that the uncontradicted medical evidence established that the accident in question exacerbated or accelerated Potts pre-existing conditions in her right knee. The court characterized Potts as the classic "eggshell skull" plaintiff that must be taken in the condition that she was found. (TR. P. 119). The Court ruled that Potts was entitled to judgment in the amount of \$28,502.82 for incurred medical expenses related her initial treatment and reconstructive surgery, and \$5000 in pain and suffering. The Court declined to award any compensation for future medical costs associated with the recommended knee replacement or loss of wage earning capacity. The Court found that the prospect of the future surgery was totally speculative on the grounds that conservative treatment utilized in conjunction with weight loss may eliminate the need for the surgery. (TR. P. 119). Similarly, the court declined to award damages for loss of wage earning capacity and characterized the evidence in support thereof as speculative. The lower court entered a judgment in accordance with its ruling from the bench on November 30, 2007.

On December 7, 2007, Potts filed a Motion for New Trial and/or Amendment of Judgment pursuant to M.R.C.P 59. The Court denied the post trial motion without the benefit of a response by MDOT or argument on December 12, 2007. Potts timely filed her Notice of Appeal to this Honorable Court on January 7, 2008.

C. Statement of Facts

On June 16, 2003, an MDOT employee was bush-hogging along the MS State Highway 12 when the mower blades projected a rock into the vehicle operated by Carter and occupied by Belevia Potts. Carter slammed on the brakes after the impact causing Potts to strike her right knee on the dashboard. (TR. P. 62-63). The parties stipulated to the liability of MDOT for the occurrence. The sole issue for the Court was whether Potts' claimed damages were proximately caused by the negligent conduct of MDOT. Potts claimed damages included incurred medical expenses in the amount of \$28,502.82, future medical expenses associated with a total right knee replacement, past, present and future pain and suffering associated with both procedures, permanent disability, as well as present and future loss of wage earning capacity caused by this injury.

On September 19, 2006, Potts underwent reconstructive knee surgery to address three interrelated diagnoses: (1) chondromalacia which was described as damage to the articular cartilage behind the kneecap; (2) meniscal tear; and (3) replacement of a torn and unstable anterior cruciate ligament. Todd Smith, M.D., the orthopedic surgeon who performed the procedure, testified that her ACL tear was chronic insofar as it was torn some time ago and replaced by loosely organized scar tissue. (TR. P. 54). Dr. Smith replaced the ACL for the purpose of stabilizing the knee. (TR. P. 55). During the procedure, he also debrided or shaved away the torn portions of her meniscus. Dr. Smith explained that the meniscus is the shock absorbers between the two bones of the knee. (TR. P. 55, lines 5-18). The diagnosis of chondromalacia, while surgically repaired, would continue to disrupt the structural environment of her knee.

Potts' pain response was not drastically improved by the reconstructive procedure due to inflammation caused by articular cartilage changes in her right knee. Dr. Smith explained that due to these changes, the normal environment of the knee is disrupted which produces inflammation which dilutes the normal thick fluid in the knee. This dilution of the knee fluid reduces the lubrication or cushioning of the joint. Dr. Smith's recommendation to counteract this inflammatory state was a series of five injections of fluid that replace the normal joint fluid. (p. 18). Potts began the series of injections on or about August 6, 2007, and received the fifth injection on October 8, 2007. The efficacy of the treatment is typically judged some eight to ten weeks after the fifth injection. If the injections have not improved the patient's pain, the immediate options are intermittent injections of an anti-inflammatory and pain reliever or consideration for a total knee replacement. Dr. Smith testified within a reasonable degree of medical probability that Potts would require a total knee replacement within her life expectancy. (TR. P. 19 and deposition transcript p. 17, lines 11-21). He further testified that the occurrence in question accelerated the inflammatory process of the knee environment which in turn accelerated the medical necessity of the future knee replacement. (TR. P. 19-20).

Dr. Smith testified that while he does not place restrictions on any patient, he does provide the following recommendations for patients who undergo this procedure: avoid heavy lifting, standing for long periods of time, stooping, bending and any other activity that might aggravate the knee. He testified that Potts' condition was permanent and that she would likely experience intermittent pain due to this condition for the rest of her life. (TR. P. 22-23)

Potts' social, educational and vocational history is quite limited and places her at a distinct disadvantage even if she were able bodied. She is a forty-one (41) year old divorced mother of two, with one child residing in her household. She did not obtain a high school

degree, nor did she obtain a general equivalency diploma. Her past employment includes working 60-70 hours per week as a driver for LeFleur Transportation and convenience store clerk. Potts testified that while some degree of right knee arthritis pre-existed the occurrence, it did not limit her social activities or the scope of her employment duties in any manner whatsoever. (TR. P 72-73). Before the occurrence, Potts was capable of working 72 hours per week if necessary. (TR. P 72). In 2005, she obtained employment with the Choctaw County School system as a bus driver and was employed in this capacity at the time of trial. She stated that she sought this occupation due to her limitations and her belief that she could perform "light" work. Her current wages are less than \$500.00 per month.

Potts testified that constant pain limits her activities on a daily basis and prevents her from walking. (TR. P. 77). Constant right knee pain prompted her to undergo the recent reconstructive surgery performed by Dr. Smith. Potts stated that her pain was not abated by the series of injections recommended by Dr. Smith. Potts explained that walking as well as long periods of sitting cause severe pain, and that she can hardly move on some days. (TR. P. 77). Potts was scheduled to return to Dr. Smith on November 5, 2007, for the purpose of evaluating the efficacy of the injections. Potts testified that "If the injections didn't do any good, he's going to talk about doing a whole knee replacement." (TR. P. 75, lines 1-3). Potts testified that the cost of the knee replacement was approximately \$75,000. (TR. P. 75, lines 13-23).

Innie Pearl Carter testified that she had first hand knowledge of Potts condition before the occurrence. Carter's testimony established that Potts had the ability to walk and maintain regular employment before the occurrence. Carter testified that Potts couldn't walk well after the incident and was no longer able to work as a convenience store clerk due to her condition.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The expert medical testimony clearly established that the occurrence aggravated Potts' underlying chondromalacia (articular cartilage damage) which accelerated changes within the structural environment of the knee. The expert testimony further established within reasonable medical probability, that this aggravation accelerated the unstable environment within the knee which will necessitate an inevitable total knee replacement.

The lower court committed fundamental legal error by rejecting the uncontradicted expert medical testimony offered by Potts's treating physician in favor of no evidence at all. The court's ruling from the bench, while couched in terms of possibilities and facially deficient, is not supported by any medical evidence. If there was any evidence contained in the record that the current treatment regimen could foreclose the option of surgery, then the lower court's ruling would possess an indication of substantial evidence. However, there is no evidence within the record to support the finding that any form of conservative medical treatment will reverse the ongoing changes within the structure of Potts' right knee. The only evidence available for the court's consideration established that Potts would more than likely require a total knee replacement within her life expectancy.

The lower court committed legal error by declining to award any damages for loss of wage earning capacity occasioned by her injury. Potts, an unskilled laborer, presented persuasive evidence of her vocational capacity before the occurrence. Her vocational capacity and previous good health was corroborated by Carter as well as previous income tax returns. Potts also presented the requisite evidence of a permanent medical impairment coupled with limitations that are supported by medical testimony.

The evidence established within reasonable certainty that her ongoing disability rules out a number of vocational opportunities such as production factory work, long distance driving, convenience store clerk, or even working as a greeter at Wal-Mart. Unfortunately, the lower court required a heightened burden of proof for the recovery of loss of wage earning capacity when all that is required is permanent impairment and the willingness to enter the labor market.

The lower court's damages award is not in harmony with the medical evidence concerning disability and vocational loss, future medical expenses in the amount of \$75,000, as well as ongoing pain and suffering. The court's award fails to compensate Potts for her full spectrum of damages that is supported by uncontradicted expert medical evidence as well as lay testimony that is consistent with the medical evidence.

Potts unsuccessfully sought a continuance for the sole purpose of determining if the future knee replacement was imminent and if so, when was it likely to occur. If such was the case, then justice would require that the court allow her sufficient time to fully develop her claim for partial or total loss of vocational capacity. The requested continuance, if granted, would not have prejudiced MDOT in any manner. Potts, who was forty one years old at the time of trial, could have presented a strong case for permanent total disability if the knee replacement was imminent. But the court denied the continuance in favor of docket management on the one hand, while characterizing the best evidence available as speculative and insufficient to award damages on the other. The court's denial of the requested continuance was manifestly unjust and prejudicial in light of its findings on damages. While docket management is important, docket management should be enforced as means to affect justice for all parties.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This case was brought under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, which allows negligence actions against state agencies under certain circumstances. Simpson v. City of Pickens, 761 So.2d 855, 860 (Miss.2000). There is also a requirement that, if the matter comes to trial, it will be conducted as a bench trial. Id. In this situation, "the trial court sits as finder of fact and, when the court's factual determinations are challenged on appeal, the reviewing court must consider the entire record and is obligated to affirm where there is substantial evidence in the record to support the trial court's findings." City of Newton v. Lofton, 840 So.2d 833, 835 (Miss. 2003); Ezell v. Williams, 724 So.2d 396, 397 (Miss.1998); Mississippi State Hosp. v. Wood, 823 So.2d 598, 601 (Miss.Ct.App.2002). "The findings of the trial judge will not be disturbed unless the judge abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." City of Newton, 840 So.2d at 835-36; Stanton v. Delta Reg'l Med. Ctr., 802 So.2d 142, 145 (Miss.Ct.App.2001). Stated another way, this Court should and generally will affirm a trial court sitting without a jury on a question of fact unless, based upon substantial evidence, the court was manifestly wrong. <u>Ezell v. Williams</u>, 724 So.2d 396, 397 (Miss. 1998). "This Court reviews errors of law, which include the proper application of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, de novo." City of Newton, 840 So.2d at 836.

B. <u>The Uncontradicted Expert Medical Testimony Established the Necessity of a Future Knee Replacement</u>

A plaintiff has the burden of proving damages, injuries, and loss of income. When determining whether that burden has been met, the evidence is to be viewed in the light most favorable to the party in whose favor the jury decided. *Odom v. Roberts*, 606 So.2d 114, 118

(Miss. 1992) (citing *Motorola Communications & Elecs., Inc. v. Wilkerson,* 555 So.2d 713, 723 (Miss. 1989)). That party is given all favorable inferences that can reasonably be drawn from that evidence. *Id.* If that evidence is contradicted, the appellate court "will defer to the [factfinder], which determines the weight and worth of testimony and the credibility of the witness at trial." *Id.*

The analysis begins with the basic rule that Potts, as the injured party, has the burden of going forward with sufficient evidence to prove her damages by a preponderance of the evidence. *TXG Intrastate Pipeline Co. v. Grossnickle*, 716 So.2d 991, 1016 (Miss.1997); *Boling v. A-1 Detective & Patrol Serv., Inc.*, 659 So.2d 586, 590 (Miss.1995). In addition "[t]here are some damages, such as medical expenses and loss of income, which must be proved with reasonable certainty, but there are also some damages, such as pain and suffering, that are not susceptible of proof as to monetary value, and these items must be left to the discretion of the [factfinder] as long as the amount thereof, under all the evidence, is just and reasonable." *Holmes County Bank & Trust v. Staple Cotton Co-op.*, 495 So.2d 447, 451 (Miss.1986) (quoting GRANT, SUMMARY OF MISSISSIPPI LAW, Sec. 980.1 (Supp.1984)).

The court's consideration of Potts' ongoing medical treatment may have colored its impression of whether the future knee replacement was proven within reasonable certainty. Admittedly, Potts had not consulted with Dr. Smith concerning the efficacy of the series of injections, but the court's denial of the continuance foreclosed that possibility. In any event, the court's finding that the need for the future surgery is not reasonably certain to occur is not supported by substantial evidence. The circuit judge ignored Dr. Smith's uncontradicted testimony that the collision related injuries accelerated her need for a total knee replacement within her life expectancy. The Court's finding that "the shots may still work" does not rise to

the level of reasonable medical probability and is not sufficient to negate the uncontradicted proof that Potts will require a total knee replacement within her life expectancy. Dr. Smith, the only medical expert who testified, never stated that the injections would more likely than not eliminate Potts' need for a knee replacement. On the contrary, Dr. Smith testified that the likelihood of a future knee replacement was greater than 50%.

C. The Evidence Clearly Established a Loss of Wage Earning Capacity

The general principle for the recovery of damages for loss of wage earning capacity has been stated as follows:

"A claim for damages for a lost or diminished earning capacity must be supported by satisfactory proof of the fact of such impairment, the extent thereof, and, in the case of a claim for permanent impairment of earning power, by satisfactory evidence of the permanency of the injury; and the proof should be made by the best evidence available. Proof with certainty or mathematical exactness is not required, nor need the proof be clear and indubitable; but such damages must be established by substantial evidence and cannot be left to mere conjecture."

25A C.J.S. Damages 162(8)b at 103-104 (1966)

Decisions of this Court have previously held that, in order to recover for permanent loss of wage-earning capacity, there must be a showing of permanent physical impairment. <u>Dogan v. Hardy</u>, 587 F.Supp. 967, 970 (N.D. Miss. 1984). This principle also applies to loss of wage-earning capacity in a temporary situation. The Plaintiff need not have been gainfully employed at the time of injury in order to recover for loss of earning capacity. <u>Mississippi Central</u>

Railroad Company v. Smith, 176 Miss. 306, 168 So. 604, Cert. den'd. 299 U.S. 518, 57 S.Ct.

313, 81 L.Ed. 382 (1936); <u>Walters v. Gilbert</u>, 248 Miss. 77, 158 So.2d 43 (1963); and <u>Kincade</u>

& Lofton v. Stephens, 50 So.2d 587 (Miss. 1951).

The lower court erroneously characterized the evidence in support of Potts' loss of wage earning capacity as speculative. How much evidence of loss of wage earning capacity is enough to exceed speculation and conjecture? At a minimum, the law requires that the Plaintiff (1) must not be totally disabled from the competitive labor market by a non-compensable pre-existing condition; (2) evidence of a permanent impairment; (3) resulting in the loss of vocational capacity. *Kitchens v. Jerry Vowell Logging*, 874 So.2d 456 (Miss.Ct.App.2004). Admittedly, the court's fact finding role is more complicated in the case of a minimum wage employee who has limited education and vocational skills. In the case of a disadvantaged worker such as Potts, even a slight impairment could result in total occupational disability, and what must be compared for workers' compensation benefits purposes, are the actual wages before the injury and the earning *capacity* after the injury. Any other approach to evaluating the entitlement to benefits would ignore "the temporary and unpredictable character of post-injury earnings." *Cox v. International Harvestor*, 221 So. 2d 924, 927 (Miss. 1969)

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