IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE MISSISSIPPI

BELEVIA POTTS

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-00092

LARRY BLACK and THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF ATTALA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEES LARRY BLACK and THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

G. TODD BURWELL, ESQ.
MSB No.
JULIE P. RATLIFF, ESQ.
MSB No.
LATHAM & BURWELL, PLLC
618 Crescent Blvd., Suite 200
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157
(601) 427-4470

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

Errors of law, including the proper application of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA"), Miss. Code Ann. sections 11-41-1 et seq. (Rev. 2004), are reviewed de novo. Id. (citing City of Newton, 840 So.2d at 836). See Phillips, 978 So.2d at 660 (citing City of Jackson v. Brister, 838 So.2d 274, 278 (Miss. 2003)). Additionally, "the trial judge, sitting in a bench trial as the trier of fact, has the sole authority for determining the credibility of the witnesses." Id. (citing City of Jackson v. Lipsey, 834 So.2d 687, 691 (Miss. 2003)). And, "where there is conflicting evidence, this Court must give great deference to the trial judge's findings." Id.

This Court, however, "may not act upon or consider matters which do not appear in the record and must confine itself to what actually does appear in the record."

American Fire Protection, Inc. v. Lewis, 653 So.2d 1387, 1391 (Miss. 1995)(internal citations omitted). "As a matter of fact, it is an appellant's duty to justify his arguments of error with a proper record, which does not include mere assertions in his brief, or the trial court will be considered correct. Id. (citing Smith v. State, 572 So.2d 847, 849 (Miss. 1990)).

B. Lower Court's Judgment Was Correct

1. There was insufficient evidence to establish the necessity of a future knee replacement.

Even if you view the evidence in the light most favorable to Potts, she did not meet her burden. ² Potts did not prove the need for a future knee replacement by either reasonable evidence or reasonable certainty. The only evidence Potts presented regarding a total knee replacement was Smith, who testified in both his deposition and at trial that Potts' likelihood of needing such a surgery was "more than fifty percent (50%)" or "more likely than not." (Trial Exhibit P-1, Smith's Deposition Page 17, Lines 15-21 and Rec. Vol. 2 of 2, Page 19, Lines 17-29 and Page 20, Lines 1-2). The only other medical evidence supporting the need for a knee replacement surgery was from Dr. Shelton of MS Sports Med, who in July of 2003, determined Potts' degenerative arthritis in her right knee superseded the Incident, and that if Potts did not loose weight, she would be looking at a knee replacement very young in life. (Trial Exhibit D-1, Tab 4, Bates Pages 0078-0079 and MDOT 0007-0012).

Potts then alleges the trial court was in some way tainted by considering "Potts' ongoing medical treatment." (Potts' Brief at Page 9). The trial court's consideration of Potts' ongoing medical treatment was a requisite. A trial judge should consider the totality of the evidence before him in making his award. *Homes County Bank & Trust Co. v. Staple Cotton Cooperative Association*, 495 So.2d 447, 451 (Miss. 1986). In its ruling, the trial court specifically noted it based its decision on (1) the testimony heard during trial and (2) review of all of the exhibits that had been submitted during trial.

²Potts cites *Odom v. Roberts*, 606 So.2d 114, 118 (Miss. 1992) as her primary source for this standard. Odom was overruled on other grounds by *Dedeaux v. Pellerin Laundry, Inc.*, 947 So.2d 900 (Miss. 2007), but the internal citation, *Motorola Communications & Elecs., Inc. v. Wilkerson*, 555 So.2d 713, 723 (Miss. 1989), and the cited standard itself are good and correct.

(Rec. Vol. 2 of 2, Page 118, Lines 22-26). Clearly, the trial court reviewed the totality of the evidence before it, and Potts' allegation that the "uncontradicted proof that [she] would *require* a total knee replacement within her life expectancy" is an incorrect summary of Dr. Shelton's findings and Smith's testimony. (Potts' Brief at Page 10)(emphasis added). "More than fifty percent (50%)" and "more likely than not" do not equal a required need.

Potts began visco supplementation injections with Smith on September 10, 2007. (Trial Exhibit D-1 at Tab 40, Bates Pages 0109-0110). Potts then had additional injections on: September 17, 2007; September 25, 2007; October 1, 2007; and October 8, 2007. (Id. at Tab 42, Bates Pages 1015-1016; Tab 43, Bates Pages 0103-1014; Tab 44, Bates Pages 1010-1012; and Tab 45, Bates Pages 0097-0098). Further, Potts did not have any credible evidence as to the cost of the alleged total knee replacement, as Smith did not testify at trial regarding what his costs would be, and specifically stated in his deposition he did not know what the costs would be. (Rec. Vol. 2 of 2, Smith's Deposition at Page 75, Lines 13-16). Potts, herself, admitted she had not checked on what the costs of a knee replacement surgery would be. (Id. At Page 75, Lines 10-12). If Potts— or Smith since she was seeing him again— had any reservation that there may be some question regarding proceeding with the agreed trial date of the October 22, 2007, Potts had more than ample time to do so prior to than the Thursday before the Monday trial.

2. Potts failed to clearly establish loss of wage earning capacity.

As previously stated, Mississippi appellate courts will not disturb a trial judge's findings upon review if same are supported by substantial, credible and reasonable

evidence. Jones v. Mississippi Transp. Comm'n, 920 So.2d 516, 518(¶ 11) (Miss.2003). Stated alternatively, the appropriate standard of review for this issue is whether the trial judge abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or applied an erroneous legal standard. (Id.)³

The general principle for establishing a loss of earning capacity claim, as found in the *Corpus Juris Secundum*, and cited in its entirety by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Casey v. Texgas Corp*, is as follows:

A claim for damages for a lost or diminished earning capacity must be supported by satisfactory proof of the fact of such impairment, the extent thereof, and, in the case of a claim for permanent impairment of earning power, by satisfactory evidence of the permanency of the injury; and the proof should be made by the best evidence available. Proof with certainty or mathematical exactness is not required, nor need the proof be clear and indubitable; but such damages must be established by substantial evidence and cannot be left to mere conjecture.

Casey v. Texgas Corp., 361 So.2d 498, 499 (Miss.1978), citing 25A C.J.S. Damages §162(8)b at 103-104 (1966) (emphasis added).⁴ In Casey, the Supreme Court noted the, "[d]ecisions of this Court previously have held that, in order to recover for permanent loss of wage-earning capacity, there must be a showing of permanent physical impairment." (Id.) The main issue here is, therefore, whether the trial judge abused his discretion in choosing not to award damages for loss of future earning capacity; the record supports he did not.

³Kitchens v. Jerry Vowell Logging, 874 So.2d 456 (Miss.Ct.App.2004) and Cox v. International Harvestor, 221 So.2d 924, 927 (Miss.1969), which are cited and discussed in Appellant's brief, involve loss of wage earning capacity analyses within the framework of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation statutory scheme and are inapplicable to the issues before this Court.

⁴Appellant incorrectly cites to *Dogan v. Hardy, 587 F.Supp.* 967, 970 (N.D. Miss. 1984). This case is not on point and in fact does not discuss the issues before this Court. The appropriate citation, and the case from which the first two paragraphs of Appellant's brief are taken, is *Casey v. Texgas Corp.*, 361 So.2d 498, 499 (Miss.1978).

In electing not to award damages for loss of earning capacity, the trial judge considered all the evidence, including the testimony of Smith and Potts, and decided Potts' claim for a loss of earning capacity was purely speculative. (Record Vol. 2 of 2, Page 119, Lines 16-29). The trial court directly addressed this issue with Potts' counsel during Potts' direct examination. (*Id.* at Pages 65-69). Even after this exchange, however, Potts failed to offer any testimony as to how the injury at issue affected her future capacity to earn.

In fact, the trial court noted, and Potts' counsel agreed, Potts' own expert never testified regarding any loss of earning capacity. (Record Vol. 2 of 2, Page 68, Lines 5-11). Smith also testified that he never restricted her ability to work. (Record Vol. 2 of 2, Page 41, Lines 28-29; Page 42, Lines 1-2). And even assuming, arguendo, Smith had given Potts some work restrictions, they would have existed regardless due to Potts' other, clearly non-causally related health related issues, such as anemia and obesity. (Record Vol. 2 of 2, Page 54-57; Page 68, Lines 15-29). Potts failed to present any evidence regarding her future abilities and/or work options, as no vocational reports, information and/or experts were presented at trial. Further, the only "income" testimony was lay testimony from Potts regarding her occupation in 1997...a time period six (6) years prior to the Incident and a full decade prior to trial. (Rec. Vol. 2 of 2, Page 72, Lines 2-22). Add that to the fact Potts was unemployed at the time of the Incident, and Potts truly presented no credible, reasonable evidence regarding an alleged loss in earning capacity. (Trial Exhibit D-3, Potts' Response to Interrogatory No. 14 and Rec. Vol. 2 of 2, Page 65, Line29 and Page 66, Lines 1 and 12-20).

Whether Potts established a loss of earning capacity claim is a question of fact,

and the trial judge is charged with making this determination in a claim brought under the MTCA. Furthermore, the amount of: physical injury; mental and physical pain, present and future; temporary and permanent disability; medical expenses; loss of wages and wage-earning capacity; and the sex, age and health of the injured plaintiff are all variables to be considered by the fact-finder in determining the amount of damages awarded. *Woods v. Nichols*, 416 So.2d 659, 671 (Miss.1982). As a general rule in Mississippi, appellate courts affirm trial judges on fact questions unless, based upon substantial evidence, the court was manifestly wrong. *Jackson Public School Dist. v. Smith*, 875 So.2d 1100 (Miss.App.2004).

In an effort to divert this Court's attention from the lack of requisite evidence, Potts next argues the trial judge applied the inappropriate standard of "mathematical certainty," and failed to weigh the sufficiency of the loss of earning capacity evidence accordingly. (Potts' Brief, Pages 11-12). Based on the Mississippi Supreme Court's ruling in *Casey v. Texgas Corp.*, Potts was not required to establish her claim to a mathematical certainty, but proof of such damages <u>must rise</u> above the level of speculation. *Casey v. Texgas Corp.*, 361 So.2d at 499. As discussed above, and as evidenced by the record, Potts failed to meet this burden, and the trial court based its decision on the evidence, or lack thereof, presented at trial.

3. The trial court's assessment of Potts' alleged non-pecuniary damages was reasonable.

í

Potts also attempts to make the "points at issue" appear larger by separating out the trial court's assessment of Potts alleged non-pecuniary damages. As previously noted in *Woods*, there are multiple factors to be considered when a fact-finder

determines a damage award. *Woods*, 416 So.2d at 671. The trial court considered all of these factors in his computation of the \$32, 502.82 award.

The trial court's award is more than reasonable in light of the aforementioned Woods factors. Physical injury: Potts' medical records with regard to her claim are spotty at best, and repeatedly show she denied complaints and was ambulatory with a steady gait. (Trial Exhibit D-1 at Tab 3, Bates Page 0081; Tab 9, Bates Page 00143; Tab 10, Bates Page 0144; Tab 35, Bates Pages 0014-0015; Tab 36, Bates Page 0128; Tab 37, Bates Pages 0012-0013; Tab 38, Bates Page 0127; and Tab 39, Bates Page 0111). Mental and physical pain: Again, Potts' medical records are not consistent over the almost four (4) years since the Incident, and Potts repeatedly denied complaints. Id. **Temporary and Permanent disability:** Potts was unemployed at the time of the Incident. (Trial Exhibit D-3, Potts' Response to Interrogatory No. 14 and Rec. Vol. 2 of 2, Page 65, Line 29 and Page 66, Lines 1 and 12-20). Smith released Potts without any work restrictions or an impairment rating. (Trial Exhibit P-1, Smith's Deposition at Pages 21, Lines 18-22; Page 22, Lines 1-2; Page 41, Lines 28-29; and Page 41, Lines 1-5). Potts never made a claim for workers' compensation or disability benefits in relation to the Incident. (Trial Exhibit D-3, Potts' Responses to Interrogatory Nos. 19, 23, and 24). Potts was not in danger of losing her job with the school district. (Rec. Vol. 2 of 2 at Page 75, Line29 and Page 76, Lines 1-2). **Medical expenses:** The trial court's award was for the full amount of proven medical expenses as of the date of the trial. (Id. at Page 119, Lines 16-18). Loss of wage earning and wage-earning capacity: (See the above Section 2). Sex, age and health of plaintiff: At all times relevant hereto, Potts was obese. (Trial Exhibit D-1 at Tab 4, Bates Pages 0078-0079 and MDOT 0007oo12 and Tab 15, Bates Pages MDOT oo05-0006; Trial Exhibit P-1, Smith's Deposition at Pages 28-29, Lines 17-25 and 1-3; and Rec. Vol. 2 of 2 at Page 117, Lines 9-10). Her own expert's testimony was that it was possible, over the course of Potts' life, due to her obesity and other health issues, such as diabetes, heart disorders, thyroid disorders, and family history, her problems with her right knee could have independently developed over time. (Trial Exhibit P-1, Smith's Deposition at Page 44, Lines 2-8 and 16-23). *Woods*, 416 So.2d at 671.

In short, any way you look at Potts' medical records, the trial transcript and the trial exhibits, the trial court's award was reasonable, and took into consideration all of the relevant factors.

4. The trial court's denial of Potts' eleventh-hour request for a continuance was fair and reasonable.

As Potts properly notes, whether to grant or deny a motion for continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion resulting in manifest injustice. *Pool v. Pool*, 2008 WL 131714 (Miss.App.2008). Mississippi appellate courts recognize the need of trial judges to control their dockets. *Watts v. Pennington*, 598 So.2d 1308, 1312 (Miss.1992). In *Cherry v. Hawkins*, the Mississippi Supreme court announced, "[we] will not reverse the denial of a continuance unless [we are] satisfied that prejudice resulted." *Cherry v. Hawkins*, 243 Miss. 392, 397, 137 So.2d 815, 816 (1962). Potts' arguments against the trial court's denial of her request for a continuance fail on all grounds.

The trial court held a telephone conference regarding Potts' Motion for Continuance, at which time it overruled the same. (Rec. Vol. 1 of 2, Page iv of Attala

County Circuit Clerk's Index and Footnote 1). An Order Denying Potts' Motion for Continuance was entered on October 22, 2007. (*Id.*) Potts did not timely appeal the October 22, 2007, Order. As such, her appeal on this issue is not properly before this Court. Miss. Rules Civ. Pro. 59 and 60. Miss. Rules of Appellate Procedures 4 and 5.

Potts filed her Motion for Trial Setting on March 20, 2007, indicating "all discovery [was] complete[] and the matter [was] ready for trial." (Record Vol. 1 of 2, Page i of Attala County Circuit Clerk's Index and Footnote 1). On April 11, 2007, the trial court approved an Agreed Order Setting Trial, which was signed by all counsel. (*Id.* at Page iii and Footnote 1). In *Dew v. Langford*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a motion for continuance after the appellant signed an agreed order setting trial. *Dew v. Langford*,666 So.2d 739, 746 (Miss.1995). As discussed above, not only did Potts sign an Agreed Order Setting Trial, she was also the moving party on the Motion for Trial Setting, filed some seven (7) months prior to the trial date. (*Id.* at Page i and Footnote 1). Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of Potts' Motion for Continuance.

Potts' arguments on this issue are procedurally barred since she did not raise this issue at trial. (Rec. Vol. 2 of 2, Page 2, Lines 10-12 and Lines 18-21). It is well-settled Mississippi law that an issue not presented to the trial court for consideration cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *Scott v. State*, 878 So.2d 933, 963 (Miss.2004) (citing *Williams v. State*, 684 So.2d 1179, 1203 (Miss.1996)). Failure to raise an issue at the trial court level is a procedural bar to appellate review. *Id.* Mississippi appellate courts will not find error in a trial judge when a matter is not presented to him for decision. *Bender v. North Meridian Mobile Home Park*, 636 So.2d 385 (Miss.1994). In

į

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